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In addition, MYTILINEOS assigns, on a biannual basis, 
the study of the socio-economic impact of its activi-
ties, to an independent consultancy which is selected 
through a tender procedure. The results of the study, 
which are outlined in a relevant report, are presented 
to the Sustainability Committee, and are published 
on the Company's website. More information on the 
latest report of the socio-economic impact of MYTILI-
NEOS (2019) is available at the following link: https://
www.mytilineos.gr/sustainability/how-we-create-val-
ue/mytilineos-socio-economic-impact-in-greece/. 

Principle B: Purpose, values and culture 

The Board of Directors approved the company’s vi-
sion, mission and values as part of its strategy. The 
Company's strategy is reviewed annually at a Board 
meeting, as well as at an executive session of the 
Non-Executive Directors.

Principle C: Resources, risks and controls

Within its remit to oversee the company’s internal 
controls and risk management systems, the Audit 
Committee proposed to the Management to under-
take an assessment of the system of internal controls 
using the (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of 
the Treadway Commission - COSO) 2013 Framework. 
Following a standard tender process, the Manage-
ment assigned the assessment of the Internal Control 
System of the Company's central and central support 
functions to EY Business Advisory Services.

Principle D: Shareholder and stakeholder en-
gagement

The Company interacts with a broad range of social 
groups. These different groups are recorded, ranked 
and characterized as Company’s “key Stakeholder 
groups”, based on specific criteria according to the 
international AA1000 Stakeholder Engagement 
Standard (SES) and in correlation with:

• the position they hold within the Company’s sphere 
of influence,

• the degree of significance and relativity attributed 
to or existing in Company’s activities and

• the way they affect the Company’s ability to fulfil 
its vision and mission.

The Company’s synergies with its Stakeholders are 
shaped in the context of the Company's contribution 
to the Sustainable Development Goal 17 that seeks 
to strengthen partnerships to support and achieve 
the ambitious targets of the 2030 Agenda without 
exclusions, built on a common vision, principles and 
values. The Company promotes regular communica-
tion with its Stakeholder groups; the frequency of 
such communication stems from the type of relation-
ship built with each group, aiming to understand 
their expectations and respond promptly to matters 
concerning them, preserving and strengthening at 
the same time its “social license to operate”.

Additionally, MYTILINEOS has developed a specific 
Stakeholders Engagement process. This practice ex-

Statement of Corporate Governance

This Statement constitutes a special part of the Management Report, in accord-
ance with articles 152 and 153 of Law 4548/2018 and relates to the following 
sections.	

1. Compliance of the company with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code 2018 

MYTILINEOS S.A. (the “Company”) as of 01.01.2019, following a relevant resolu-
tion of the Company’s Board of Directors on 15.11.2018, aiming at ensuring trans-
parency and responsible operation in all areas of its activity, voluntarily adopted the 
UK Corporate Governance Code -2018 (the “Code”), https://www.mytilineos.gr/
en-us/corporate-governance-code/presentation. The Code is posted on the Com-
pany’s website and on the website of the Financial Reporting Council, UK https://
www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/88bd8c45-50ea-4841-95b0-d2f4f48069a2/2018-
UK-Corporate-Governance-Code-FINAL.pdf. According to the Decision No 
2/925/28.07.2021 of the Board of Directors of the Hellenic Capital Market Com-
mission, the Financial Reporting Council is an acknowledged body for the adoption 
of a corporate governance code pursuant to Article 17 of the Law 4706/2020 on 
corporate governance.  

Based on the highest international standards of entrepreneurship, the Company 
strives for closer engagement with its investors, with the ultimate aim of unlocking 
further value for its shareholders. Drawing on the best corporate governance prac-
tices, the Company formulates its strategy and develops the general directions, 
policies, values and principles that govern its operation, while ensuring transpar-
ency and safeguarding the interests of its shareholders.

1.1 Board leadership and company purpose
Principle A: The role of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (the Board) sets the tone with regards to the standards of 
corporate governance. To this end the Board decided to adopt voluntarily the UK 
Corporate Governance Code as from 01.01.2019, recognizing that the Code is 
widely recognized as best standard of corporate governance. 

The Board operates effectively for the longer-term interests and sustainability of 
the Company. The Board is diverse, and its members possess the appropriate level 
of knowledge, skills and expertise required to deliver upon expectations. The Com-
pany demonstrates a clear division of responsibilities between Management and 
the Board: The Executive Committee is supported by a) the Financial, the Capital 
Allocation and the Energy & Regulatory Matters Committees and b) the respective 
Committees of the Metallurgy, Power & Gas, Renewables Storage Development 
and Sustainable Engineering Solutions Business Units. 

As a responsible industrial company, MYTILINEOS integrates sustainability consid-
erations as part of its main purpose. The Company’s business model is at the cen-
tre of its operations: It supports its growth, describes the categories of resources it 
utilises, presents the picture of its activities, its production performance, the value 
it creates for its Stakeholders and wider society, in general, its overall contribution 
to Sustainable Development. Detailed analysis is provided in the Management Re-
port section of the 2021 Annual Report.

To offer a better understanding of the Company’s business model, use is made of 
key performance indicators together with descriptions of the interrelationships be-
tween the resources utilised. This information is available at Mytilineos - Integrated 
Value Creation 2020 - Scorecard.

The Board of Directors established within 2021 the Sustainability Committee, with 
the purpose to assist the Board in strengthening the Company’s long-term com-
mitment to creating value in all three pillars of Sustainable Development (economy, 
environment and society) and in overseeing the implementation of responsible 
and ethical business conduct, evaluated regularly on the basis of its results and its 
performance in Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) matters. More infor-
mation on the Sustainability Committee is available in Section 3.
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presses the Company’s long-standing principle of engaging with its 
Stakeholders through a systematic and sincere dialogue. As a corporate 
institution, the Stakeholders Consultation process, has been carried out 
consistently annually since 2011 and is subject to self-assessment and 
self-improvement procedures. 

• Stakeholder Engagement https://www.mytilineos.gr/media/
mmwd2ntn/social_partners_consultation_process_2018_en.pdf

• A detailed analysis of the results of the Stakeholder Engagement Pro-
cess 2021 is provided in the Annual Report 2021, in the Non-financial 
disclosure report section, and in the Sustainable Development Report 
2021 published in June and posted on the Company's website. 

Principle E: Workforce policies and practices

The Code of Business Conduct of the Company serves as a record of 
the general principles which define the responsible business conduct 
and the ethical rules that all the employees and business partners of 
MYTILINEOS are expected to follow, as well as a record of the commit-
ments of the Company’s Management towards its people. The Code 
ensures that all Company activities adhere to the principle of integrity, 
thus safeguarding its reputation, which is its most valuable intangible 
asset and, as any other asset, should not only be protected but should 
also be further developed, by ensuring that the conditions that will al-
low this are in place. The Board has last approved the Code of Conduct 
in November 2019 and since then there has not been the need for any 
update. In 2021 the Board has approved and endorsed the Conflicts of 
Interest policy and guideline for MYTILINEOS that is applicable to the 
Board itself and all MYTILINEOS employees.

MYTILINEOS has established a whistleblowing process (https://www.
mytilineos.gr/who-we-are/governance/compliance/#section10Policy
)  for all employees to report any violation of the MYTILINEOS Code 
of Business Conduct (https://www.mytilineos.gr/media/doil4yvc/myt-
ilineos_kodikas_deontologias_2019_web_en_23_01.pdf) even on an 
anonymous basis. All incoming reports are being investigated by the 
appropriate personnel in confidentiality. MYTILINEOS has a non-retal-
iation policy for the reporters that submit their reports in good faith.

Additionally, the Remuneration Policy for the Directors contributes to 
the Company’s business strategy and long-term interests and sustain-
ability by encouraging the Executive Directors to focus on sustained 
long-term value creation by providing a fair and appropriate level of 
fixed remuneration and a balance of short and long-term incentives to 
ensure there is focus on short term objectives that will over time build 
to create long-term value creation, as well as long-term goals. The re-
muneration policy for the Executive Directors, as for all employees, is 
based on the principle of paying fair and reasonable remuneration for 
the best and most appropriate person for the role while ensuring that 
the Company pays fairly and competitively and in the longer-term inter-
ests and sustainability of the Company. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee and the Board of Di-
rectors receive periodic updates on the wider employee remuneration 
structure and practices within the Company, which are considered 
when establishing and revisiting the Policy. This is to ensure that re-
muneration practices and structure are as consistent as possible across 
the Company. 

Last but not least the Company aims to apply the principle of Diver-
sity (based, among other basic parameters, on gender, age, experience, 
skills and knowledge) to the composition of its Board of Directors, of 
its executive management team and of all direct employees in all its 
activities, where this is feasible. To this end, the Company in its diversity 
policy sets as its objective the achievement of targets concerning the 
representation of women on the board, senior executives and direct 
employees. The diversity policy is disclosed in Section 6 together with 

related targets. Since February 2021, the Company 
achieved a percentage of 27% concerning gender 
representation to its Board of Directors in line with its 
own target, while according to Greek law 4706/2020 
the relevant percentage is 25%.

Provision 1. Reporting on actions to generate 
long-term value

The Board of Directors discusses the Company's 
strategy and monitors its implementation in each of 
its meetings, which are held either in person or by 
video conference. In-depth analysis and discussion 
also is conducted at the executive sessions of the 
Non-Executive Directors. 

Provision 2. Monitoring and reporting on culture

The Code of Business Conduct applies to the Board, 
the management and the workforce. The Board over-
views its implementation and monitoring by acquir-
ing reports and through in person meetings of its Au-
dit Committee with the Head of Internal Audit, the 
Compliance Director and the Non-Financial Enterprise 
Risk Manager. The reports are related to the controls 
on the main parts of the Code that are built to en-
sure proper implementation. In addition, the Board 
receives periodical information on the whistleblow-
ing allegations that are made by employees through 
the Company’s established reporting channels.

Non-Financial Key Performance Indicators (KPIs – ESG 
Scorecard) are disclosed in the 2021 annual report in 
the Non-financial disclosure report section. Their se-
lection is based on the ESG Approach and is linked to 
the Company’s ability to generate value and are thus 
material to sustainable development and its stake-
holders. Also, they form an understanding of how 
those ESG issues impact its corporate performance 
and the Company’s ability to implement its strategy. 
The KPIs have been defined in accordance with the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI STANDARDS) and the 
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB). 

The remuneration policy supports its short and long-
term business plan, so as to continue creating value 
for customers, shareholders, employees and the 
Greek economy.  The level of fixed pay for Directors 
is established on the basis of paying no more than is 
necessary, always supporting the Company’s longer-
term interests and sustainability. 

The Policy provides for variable compensation ar-
rangements for Executive Directors to further align 
the Executive Directors’ interests with those of the 
Company as the performance conditions used will be 
based on indicators of the long-term success and sus-
tainability of the Company. The remuneration policy 
is disclosed on the Company’s website https://www.
mytilineos.gr/media/vowkemcd/mytilineos-rem-poli-
cy-2021eng.pdf . 

The Remuneration Policy is disclosed in Section 1.5.

Provision 3. Engagement with shareholders 

The (executive) Chairman engages with the Compa-
ny’s major institutional shareholders throughout the 
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year in various ways:  during the Annual General Meeting (AGM), through telecon-
ference calls held on the occasion of half year and annual results, in the annual 
gathering of domestic institutional investors held at the company’s headquarters, 
as well as during one-to-one meetings with key institutional investors, both upon 
request but also before significant corporate events initiated by the company.  The 
Chair also holds an extensive Q&A session with minority shareholders during the 
AGM. Shareholders’ concerns, if any, are discussed with the Board and the Lead 
Independent Director is available to investors should the need arise.

The Company engages with shareholders and proxy advisors and since 2020 this 
effort has been strengthened through the organization, on an annual basis, of a 
targeted corporate governance roadshow, organized with the help of an external 
consultant, Velos Advisory, to maintain an active dialogue with the stewardship 
teams of its key investors, both before the AGM and throughout the year, with the 
participation of the Lead Independent Director, members of the Board of Directors 
and of the Company Secretary. 

Provision 4. Actions to be taken if significant votes against

The recommendations of the Management for the resolutions regarding the An-
nual Shareholders’ General Meeting dated 15 June 2021 were passed by the ma-
jority of shareholders, with percentages ranging from 100% to 98.38%, more than 
80% of the represented paid up share capital. In case 20% or more of votes are 
cast against a recommendation of the Management for a shareholder resolution in 
the future, the Company, when announcing voting results, also shall explain what 
actions it intends to take to consult shareholders who voted against in order to 
understand the reasons behind the result. The Company shall also announce no 
later than six months after said shareholder meeting the results of such consulta-
tion and the actions taken and, in any case, provide a summary thereof in the 
annual report.

Provision 5. Engagement with stakeholders and workforce representation

Full account of how the Board takes into account the interests of various stake-
holders’ groups is provided in the Sustainable Development Report 2021 which 
becomes available by the time of the AGM in June 2022 on the website https://
www.mytilineos.gr/sustainability/reports/. As part of its engagement process MYT-
ILINEOS has developed a specific Stakeholders Consultation process (https://www.
mytilineos.gr/sustainability/our-approach/our-relationship-with-stakeholders/).  
This practice expresses the Company’s long-standing principle to engage with its 
Stakeholders through a systematic and sincere dialogue. As a corporate institu-
tion, the Stakeholders Consultation process, has been carried out consistently on 
annual basis since 2011 and is subject to self-assessment and self-improvement 
procedures.

The Materiality process, i.e. the process of identifying, understanding and prioritiz-
ing the sustainability issues, is one of the key elements in the Company’s responsi-
ble operation. Τhe Company's open dialogue with its Stakeholders, in addition to 
enhancing its ability to understand the impact of its activities, enriches this process 
with new inputs. The workforce participates in the process of determining the 
material Sustainable Development topics through a relevant Social Partner survey 
that was carried out in 2021 and takes place every two years based on the official 
MYTILINEOS process. The results of this process will be published in the 2021 Sus-
tainable Development Report.

For the purpose of setting remuneration, the Remuneration and Nomination Com-
mittee and the Board of Directors receive periodic updates on the wider employee 
remuneration structure and practices within the Company, which are considered 
when establishing and revisiting the Remuneration Policy. In addition, the Remu-
neration and Nomination Committee and Board of Directors are provided with 
information on remuneration trends across the Company including average pay 
increases along with any relevant economic data, such as the rate of inflation to 
take into account when operating the Policy.

Provision 6. Whistleblowing

The Company expects its employees to report serious violations of the Code of 
Business Conduct, when they become aware of them or when these are brought 

to their attention. This will allow the Company to 
address and rectify the matter, before it becomes 
a violation of the law or a health and safety risk or 
jeopardizes the Company’s reputation. In cases in-
volving violations of the Code, the competent bod-
ies of the Company shall investigate thoroughly the 
reports made, while at the same time observing the 
confidentiality of the relevant information, unless 
otherwise provided for by the law. MYTILINEOS has 
established a whistleblowing process [https://www.
mytilineos.gr/who-we-are/governance/compliance/#s
ection10Policy] for all employees to report any viola-
tion of the MYTILINEOS Code of Business Conduct 
(https://www.mytilineos.gr/media/doil4yvc/mytiline-
os_kodikas_deontologias_2019_web_en_23_01.pdf) 
All reports shall be investigated by the appropriate 
personnel in confidentiality.

The Company has also recently upgraded its whistle-
blowing system, with the use of a third party plat-
form by an EU based company that specializes in 
Whistleblowing applications, to maximize anony-
mous reporting capabilities and Compliance with 
the EU Directive 1937/2019. This platform shall be 
released as long as the national law on whistleblow-
ing channels will be published.

Additionally, the Company may set up a grievance 
mechanism or whistleblowing channel or reporting 
line if required by the contractor, when doing busi-
ness in countries with an increased corruption risk (as 
in reference to the Corruption Perception Index by 
Transparency International) that pose a bribery and 
corruption risk for the Company. 

Provision 7. Conflicts of interest

Each member of the Board has a duty of loyalty to 
the Company. Board members act with integrity and 
in the Company’s interests and safeguard the confi-
dentiality of information that is not publicly available. 
They must not have a relationship of competition 
with the Company and should avoid any position or 
activity that creates or appears to create a conflict be-
tween their personal interests and those of the Com-
pany. During 2021, the Company adopted a separate 
Conflict of Interest policy and procedure, elaborating 
further the relevant section of the Code of Business 
Conduct of the Company.  More information on the 
Policy and Procedures on Conflicts of Interest, which 
has been approved by the Board of Directors by its 
resolution dated 15/06/2021 is available in Section 
2.3.

Finally, the Internal Audit Division reports to the Au-
dit Committee any cases of conflict of the private 
interests of Board members with the interests of the 
Company, which (cases) it ascertains in the perfor-
mance of their duties.

Provision 8. Director concerns and resignations

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association 
(available on the website) and Greek Company Law 
4548/2018 on the request of a member of the Board 
of Directors, the Chairman is required to record in 
the minutes a summary of such member’s opinion. 
The BoD will consider including in the Board’s Terms 
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of Reference a provision according to which, on resignation, a non-
executive member of the Board of Directors has the right to provide a 
written statement to the Chair for circulation to the Board.

1.2. Division of responsibilities
Principle F: The role of the chair 

The Chairman coordinates and directs the Board’s meetings and over-
all functioning. He heads the Board of Directors and is responsible for 
convening meetings, determining the agenda and ensuring the proper 
organisation of the Board’s activities and the efficient conduct of its 
meetings. The Chairman is also responsible for ensuring the provision 
of timely and accurate information to the Board members, as well as for 
effective communications with all shareholders, seeking to guarantee 
the fair and equitable treatment of the interests of all shareholders. 

The Chairman sets the board agenda assisted by the Company Secre-
tary. 

More information on the role of the Chair is available in Section 2.1.2. 

Principle G: Board balance and decision-making

The Board has 11 members. Of these: a) three members, namely the 
Chair & CEO, the Vice Chair B and one other member are Company 
executives, b) Vice Chair A’ is non-executive and c) seven members are 
independent non-executive. Both Board committees, the Audit Com-
mittee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, are com-
pletely independent. The separation of responsibilities between the 
executive management and the Board of Directors is clear, as described 
in the Company’s Internal Regulation. Prevention of excessive burden 
arising from the professional commitments of the members, outside the 
Company, is regulated in the Policy for the Suitability Assessment of the 
Board of Directors of the Company which falls within the competence 
of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 

Non-executive Board members’ other assignments are considered at the 
nomination process as to avoid over-boarding and reviewed every year 
by the Remuneration and Nomination committee. Other appointments 
and commitments are reported in Section 2.1.7. 

Principle H: The role of non-executive directors

The Non-Executive Members of the Board do not have executive re-
sponsibilities regarding the management of the Company within their 
remit, beyond the general duties stemming from their capacity as Board 
members and have been entrusted with the role of systematic supervi-
sion and monitoring of Management’s decision-making. 

According to the Policy for the Suitability Assessment of the Members 
of the Board of Directors of the Company, which was approved by reso-
lution of the AGM of MYTILINEOS, dated 15 June 2021, non-executive 
Directors are advised not to hold more than six non-executive director-
ships. In any case, they should not sit in the boards of more than five (5) 
companies whose shares are traded in regulated markets.

The Board Profile matrix is reported in Section 2.2 the biographies of 
each individual Board member are available on the company’s website 
https://www.mytilineos.gr/who-we-are/leadership/. 

More information on the role of non-executive directors is available un-
der Provision 13.

Principle I: Board policies and processes

The Board of Directors has appointed the Corporate 
Governance Director of the Company as Company 
Secretary so to have the necessary guidance and ad-
vice on corporate governance issues. The Board com-
mittees worked together with Company Secretary to 
draft their terms of references which subsequently 
were approved by the Board of Directors. 

Provision 9 Chair and Chief Executive

The Board Chair is also the CEO of the company.  The 
Board continues to evaluate the topic of split vs dual 
role for the Chair/CEO position.

Following the consolidation of the Group in 2018, 
the dual role under our founder Mr. Mytilineos has 
helped the Company streamline its operating model 
and leverage synergies between its different BUs as 
well as delivering outstanding results. Furthermore, 
significant  strategy and  organisational  work lies 
ahead and we feel that any change today in our or-
ganisational model would not be beneficial to the 
Group. Given his unique experience and leadership 
capacity, our Founder Mr. Mytilineos will continue to 
play a critical role going forward. Given the dual role, 
the Company has introduced a number of initiatives 
to ensure an elevated level of independence which 
include:

- strengthening of the role of the Lead Independent 
Director;

- ensuring a majority- independent Board;

- enhancing the functioning and impact of the Board 
Committees with independent members and the ad-
dition of a Sustainability Committee;

- a strengthening of our Compliance processes, un-
der the Audit Committee and

- launching a Succession Planning exercise as well 
as a Board Effectiveness Review (both collective as 
well as individual) to ensure initiatives to enhance the 
Group’s organisational and process capabilities are 
accelerated.

Provision 10. Independence of directors

Independent non-executive Board members are ap-
proved as such by the shareholders at the time they 
stand for election. 

Independent non-executive members at the time of 
their appointment and during their term of office, do 
not hold, directly or indirectly, a percentage of vot-
ing rights greater than zero-point five percent (0.5%) 
of the Company's share capital and do not maintain 
any economic, business, family or other kind of de-
pendency relationship, which may influence their 
decisions and affect their independent and objective 
judgment.
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In that sense, a dependency relationship, shall exist, indicatively, in the following 
cases:

a) Where the Board member receives any remuneration or allowance by the Com-
pany, or by a related company, or participates in a share option scheme or any 
other remuneration or allowance scheme related to the performance, except for 
fees received for the member’s participation in the Board or its committees, in ac-
cordance with the Remuneration Policy of the Company;

b) Where the Board member or any person closely associated with it, has or has 
had (directly or indirectly through participation in another entity), within the last 
three (3) financial years from the Board member’s appointment, a business rela-
tionship with the Company, or a person related to the Company, or a shareholder 
who holds, directly or indirectly, at least ten percent (10%) of the share capital of 
the Company or of a related company during the last three (3) financial years prior 
to the Board member’s appointment, provided that such relationship affects or 
is likely to affect the business activity of either the Company, the Board member 
concerned, or the person closely associated with it. Such a relationship shall exist 
in particular when the person concerned is a significant supplier or customer of 
the Company.

c) Where the Board member or any person closely associated with it:

(i) has served as member of the Board of the Company or of a related company 
for more than nine (9) financial years from the date of the Board member’s 
first appointment;

(ii) has been a manager, or employee, or partner under service contract or man-
datee under paid mandate contract, of the Company or a related company, 
within the last five (5) financial years prior to the Board member’s appoint-
ment; 

(iii) is a close family member or spouse (or equivalent) of a Board member or a 
senior manager;

(iv) has been appointed directly by a shareholder of the Company;

(v) represents shareholders holding, directly or indirectly, at least five percent 
(5%) of the Company’s voting rights at the General Meeting;

(vi) has conducted a mandatory audit in the Company or in a related company 
during the last three (3) financial years before the Board member’s appoint-
ment; 

(vii) is an executive board member in another company, in whose board an ex-
ecutive member of   the Company participates as a non-executive member.

The criteria by which Board members’ independence is assessed are determined 
in detail in the Company’s Policy on Board Members’ Independence, which also 
establishes the procedure and rules to be followed, on the one hand, for notify-
ing any dependency relationship of the independent Board members and of the 
persons closely associated with them; and, on the other hand, for assessing the 
fulfilment of independence criteria. 

The Independent Non-Executive members of the Board may submit, jointly or sep-
arately, reports to the General Meeting (ordinary or extraordinary) of the Compa-
ny, independently of the reports submitted by the Board of Directors. Such reports 
shall include, as a minimum, the following:

(a) monitoring and reviewing the Company's strategy and its implementation and 
the achievement of its objectives,

(b) ensuring effective supervision of the executive members of the Board, including 
monitoring and reviewing their performance,

(c) considering and expressing views on proposals made by executive members of 
the Board on the basis of existing information.

It is in the Remuneration and Nomination Commit-
tee's remit to review the independence of the non- 
executive directors before nomination. Specifically, 
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee re-
views: 

- the balance of the number of independent non-
executive directors;

 
- the length of service of independent non-exec-

utive directors;

- any situational conflict which a director may 
have with the interests of the Group and 

- any other relevant matter. 

As of 2019 the Remuneration and Nomination Com-
mittee reviews the independence of Board members 
annually.  

Provision 11. Half the board to be independent

On 31.12.2021 the Board of Directors consisted of 
11 members, seven (64%) of whom were independ-
ent.  At the AGM of 15 June 2021, the sharehold-
ers approved the appointment as independent non-
executive members of the Board of Directors of: a) 
Mrs Natalia Nikolaidi in replacement and for the rest 
of the term of office of the resigned independent 
non-executive member, Mr. Georgios Chrysikos, i.e. 
until 07.06.2022; and b) Mr. Anthony Bartzokas in 
replacement of the resigned  non-executive member 
Mr. Christos Zerefos with a term until 07.06.2022. 
Mr. Zerefos resigned as of 14.06.2021 due to the fact 
that according to the Policy on Board Members’ Inde-
pendence the Company shall assiduously ensure that 
an appropriate number of independent members 
participate in the Board (at least 60%). 

Provision 12. Lead Independent Director 

The Lead Independent Director is charged with co-
ordinating the Board’s Executive and Non-Executive 
Members. He also chairs the procedure concerning 
the evaluation of the Chairman by the Board Mem-
bers, as well as the meetings of the Board’s Non-Ex-
ecutive members. He proposes to the Chairman of 
the Board issues for discussion. Finally, he is available 
and attends the General Meetings of the Company’s 
shareholders, in order to discuss matters pertaining to 
corporate governance, as and when the need arises. 
The Lead Independent Director leads the sharehold-
er engagement with the stewardship teams of the 
investors in the Company's Corporate Governance 
roadshows. In addition, during 2021, the executive 
sessions of the Non-Executive Directors were chaired 
by the Lead Independent Director and assisted by 
the Company Secretary.  Such sessions will continue. 
Moreover, the Lead Independent Director informs the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors in relation to the 
important issues raised by the Non-Executive mem-
bers in their meetings and discusses them with him. 
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Provision 13. Role of non-executive directors

The Non-Executive Members of the Board do not have executive re-
sponsibilities regarding the management of the Company within their 
remit, beyond the general duties stemming from their capacity as Board 
members, and have been entrusted with the role of systematic supervi-
sion and monitoring of Management’s decision-making. In particular, 
they are entrusted with the following duties: 

a) Monitoring and reviewing the Company's strategy and its implemen-
tation, as well as the achievement of its objectives.

b) Ensuring effective supervision of the executive members of the 
Board, including monitoring and reviewing their performance at indi-
vidual and collective level. 

c) Considering and expressing views on proposals submitted by execu-
tive members of the Board on the basis of existing information and par-
ticipating constructively and critically in the Board's decision-making.

d) Ensuring and periodically evaluating the effectiveness of the Com-
pany's internal governance framework and taking appropriate action 
to address any weaknesses identified.

e) Participating, depending on their area of responsibility, in the Audit 
Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, as well 
as in any other committee in which their participation is prescribed by 
law or deemed necessary.

The non-executive members of the Board meet, under the chairman-
ship of the Lead Independent Director, without the presence of the 
executive members of the Board at least annually and whenever they 
deem it necessary, in order to assess the Chairman of the Board, and 
the performance of the executive Board members and the manage-
ment against the performance targets set for them. At their separate 
meetings, they also discuss other matters relevant to the Board, includ-
ing, but not limited to, how the Board operates, significant develop-
ments in the regulatory framework affecting the Company, develop-
ments regarding corporate governance, and the Company's strategy.
The activity of the Non-Executive Directors in 2021 is described more 
specifically in Section 2.5. 

Provision 14. Written responsibilities and attendance

The roles and responsibilities of the Chair, CEO, Lead Independent Di-
rector and Board committees are included in the Company’s Articles of 
Association which have been approved by the shareholders at the 2019 
AGM. Furthermore the aforementioned roles and responsibilities are 
part of the company’s Internal Regulation which also include internal 
policies and processes. The terms of reference of the Board committees 
which portray the remit, the functioning, and the reporting responsi-
bilities of the committees in detail, are approved by the Board and can 
be seen on Company’s website. Also details of meetings, agendas and 
individual attendance of directors during the year are reported under 
the relevant provisions in this document. 

Provision 15. Other appointments

Prior to appointment, the Board considers external demands on the 
time of nominee directors who are proposed by the Board to the share-
holders for appointment. According to the Articles of Association of 
the Company, notwithstanding any authorization by the General Meet-
ing, the members of the Board of Directors should not take part in the 
boards of directors of more than five companies, the shares of which 
are traded in regulated markets. By resolution of the General Meet-
ing of MYTILINEOS, which took place on 15 June 2021, the Policy for 
the Suitability Assessment of the Members of the Board of Directors 
was approved according to which every member of the Board of Direc-

tors must commit sufficient time to performing their 
duties. Furthermore, the Company shall make every 
proposed member aware of the time they shall be 
expected to devote to performing their duties, par-
ticipating in Board meetings or sitting in any com-
mittees in which they shall sit either as a member 
or Chair. Before acquiring any additional position in 
boards of other entities, every member must consider 
the necessary time they should devote for discharg-
ing their duties as a member properly, which (time) 
should in no case be impaired. 

The Board considers all external commitments of 
executive and non-executive directors including the 
not-for-profit ones. No director holds more than five 
external appointments. Two executive directors hold 
positions in non-listed companies none of whom is 
the CEO.

Full list of other appointments is available in Section 
2.1.7.

Provision 16. Company secretary

The Βoard has appointed the Company's Corpo-
rate Governance Director as Company Secretary. 
The Company Secretary is charged with minuting 
the meetings of the Board of Directors and of the 
Board Committees. The responsibilities of the Com-
pany Secretary include ensuring the efficient flow of 
information between the Board of Directors and the 
Board Committees, as well as between the Executive 
Management Team and the Board of Directors. The 
Company Secretary formulates the induction pro-
gramme intended for Board members immediately 
after their election, and ensures that they are provid-
ed with ongoing information and training on Com-
pany-related matters. Finally, the Company Secretary 
ensures good communication on governance issues 
among the shareholder and the Board of Directors, 
with a view to ensuring the Board’s compliance with 
the applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

More information on the Company Secretary is avail-
able in Section 2.1.6.

1.3 Composition, succession 
and evaluation
Principle J: Board appointments and succession 
planning

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is re-
sponsible for making recommendations to the Board 
on appointments against objective criteria and with 
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, 
including gender, breadth of experience, amongst 
other criteria, in accordance with the Policy for the 
Suitability Assessment of the Members of the Board 
of Directors of MYTILINEOS, which was approved by 
the AGM on 15 June 2021. It is in the Committee’s 
remit to prepare a description of the role, capabili-
ties and personal attributes required for a particular 
appointment; to develop criteria for identifying and 
evaluating director candidates. Also it is part of the 
Committee’s remit to care for the orderly succession 
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and make recommendations for appointment and reappointment by the Board of 
both executive directors and independent non-executive directors.

The first ever formal succession planning exercise was completed in late 2021 with 
facilitation provided by Egon Zehnder. The selection process was reviewed by the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee and elevated to the Board with the 
selection based on the local relevance of Egon Zehnder as well as their deep knowl-
edge of the Group. 

The Company applies a Diversity Policy in which it acknowledges that diversity 
at the workplace in the broader sense may increase the potential for accessing a 
greater range of solutions to issues of business strategy, thus increasing its com-
petitive advantage. The Company had set measurable targets concerning the rep-
resentation of women by 2020. In 2021 the Company exceeded the set goal, as 
the new members elected on 15.06.2021 raised the number of women on the 
Board of Directors to three, that is to 27%.

Principle K: Skills, experience and knowledge

In addition to the above, it is up to the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
to make recommendations for approval by the Board of the membership of Board 
committees. The current Board of Directors was elected by the General Meeting 
of the Shareholders on 07.06.2018 for a term of four (4) years, due to expire 
on 07.06.2022. The Board skill matrix is available in Section 2.2 and their CVs 
are available on the Company's website [https://www.mytilineos.gr/who-we-are/
leadership/ ].

Principle L: Board and director evaluation

It is in the Remuneration and Nomination Committee’s remit to establish and over-
see an objective and rigorous evaluation process of the Board and committees of 
the Board. The Chair of the Committee has overall responsibility for the process 
and should involve the Board Vice Chair A’ and the Lead Independent Director as 
appropriate; the Board Vice Chair A’ leads the process that evaluates the Βoard 
and the Lead Independent Director leads the process that evaluates the Chair of 
the Board. Board, committee and individual Βoard and committee members evalu-
ations shall take place every year and externally facilitated every three or sooner 
and the outcomes of Board evaluation shall be shared and discussed with the 
Board and inform and influence the succession process.

Board effectiveness was addressed via 2 initiatives – first, an external assessment 
of the Board’s collective capabilities that was discussed by the Board in 2020 and 
secondly, a follow up review was completed in 2022 that focusses on individual 
capabilities and Board impact. Following a review of available providers, the Remu-
neration and Nomination Committee proposed Egon Zehnder to facilitate the pro-
cess based on their leading position in the Greek marketplace, knowledge of the 
Mytilineos Group and the value of their proprietary global template in evaluating 
Board performance. The facilitator was granted full access to the operating details 
of the Board functioning and also attended one of the Board meetings.

Provision 17. Nomination committee

The Company has a combined Remuneration and Nomination Committee which 
examines and processes issues pertaining to: (a) the remuneration of Board mem-
bers and of senior and other executives; and (b) the suitability of existing and 
candidate directors, within the scope of its remit under its Terms of Reference. The 
Committee revisited its Terms of Reference, which were approved and put into 
effect by the Resolution of the Board of Directors dated 26.07.2021, following 
relevant proposals submitted by the Committee. 

Details on the composition, tenure, functioning, decision-making and meetings of 
the combined Committee are available under Provision 32.

The nomination responsibilities of the Committee include the following:

• to review the independence of the non-executive Directors;

• to develop meritocratic and objective criteria for 
identifying and evaluating candidate Directors in ac-
cordance with the Policy for the Suitability Assess-
ment of the Members of the Board, as well as for 
assessing and planning the succession of Directors, 
and to describe the role, knowledge, skills, experi-
ence, abilities and the required personal attributes of 
a specific candidate Director;

• to make recommendations to the Board on the ap-
pointment of Directors against objective criteria;

• to plan for the orderly succession of the Directors 
and senior executives and make recommendations to 
the Board;

• to establish and oversee an objective and rigorous 
evaluation process of the Board and Board Commit-
tees, including assessing suitability at individual and 
collective level;

• to oversee the induction process of new Directors 
and their ongoing training in accordance with the rel-
evant Training Policy that the Company has adopted 
and applies;

• to regularly assess and review the Board’ s size, 
structure, composition and operation and, if it identi-
fies weaknesses, to recommend to the Board relevant 
changes as appropriate; 

• to be responsible for drawing up the Company’s 
Policy for the Suitability Assessment of the Members 
of the Board, which shall then be submitted to the 
Board for its approval, as well as any amendments 
thereof.
 
Provision 18. Director election

The Board has a term of four years and all of its mem-
bers are subject to re-election. Elections take place 
every four years. The current Board was appointed by 
the 2018 AGM. Nominees were submitted unbun-
dled to the General Meeting of the Shareholders for 
approval.  

Provision 19. Length of service of Chair

The Chair has been serving for over 29 years. Follow-
ing the consolidation of the Group in 2018, the dual 
role under our Founder Mr. Mytilineos has helped the 
Company streamline its operating model and lever-
age synergies between its different BUs as well as 
delivering outstanding results. 

Mr. Mytilineos moreover is the architect of the Com-
pany strategy currently underway, hence his vision, 
knowledge, and involvement are integral to its ma-
terialization. Significant  strategy and  organisation-
al work lies ahead and we feel that any change today 
in our organisational model would not be beneficial 
to the Group. Given his unique experience and lead-
ership capacity, our Founder Mr. Mytilineos will con-
tinue to play a critical role going forward. 

As already mentioned under Principle J, the first ever 
formal succession planning exercise was completed in 
late 2021 with facilitation provided by Egon Zehnder. 
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The selection process was reviewed by the Remuneration and Nomina-
tion Committee and elevated to the Board. The exercise covered the 
CEO and 14 direct reports utilizing Egon Zehnder’s global succession 
planning template. The objective of the exercise was one of mapping 
both the collective and individual skill set of the executive team and 
comparing this with the executive capabilities required by the Company 
over the foreseeable future. This exercise was a key input to address the 
succession planning needs of the Group. 

A set of recommendations were submitted to ensure the Group devel-
ops the right competencies to address the challenges and opportunities 
of the future. A critical initiative relates to the further development of 
high potential executives through the expansion of their responsibilities 
and the implementation of personal development plans. Additionally, 
all executives involved went through a face-to-face feedback session 
with the facilitator to help improve their leadership effectiveness.

Provision 20. Appointment process 

The external consultant, Egon Zehnder, provided support and assistance 
for the appointment of the new independent non-executive members 
of the Board following proposal of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee. They advised on the process of identifying needs, candi-
date assessment and selection of non-executive directors. They also 
provided services to the Remuneration and Nomination Committee on 
issues related to the Board evaluation, the nominee search for an inde-
pendent non-executive Director, as well as the succession planning exer-
cise for the executive members of the Board of Directors. Egon Zehnder 
provided services for the succession planning for the other members of 
the Company's Executive Committee. Apart from that, they have no 
other relationship with the company or with members of the Board of 
Directors. 

Provision 21. Board evaluation

Board effectiveness was addressed via 2 initiatives – first, an external 
assessment of the Board’s collective capabilities that was discussed by 
the Board in 2020 and secondly, a follow up review was completed 
in 2022 that focusses on individual capabilities and Board impact. Fol-
lowing a review of available providers, the Remuneration and Nomina-
tion Committee proposed Egon Zender to facilitate the process based 
on their leading position in the Greek marketplace, knowledge of the 
Mytilineos Group and the value of their proprietary global template in 
evaluating Board performance. The facilitator was granted full access to 
the operating details of the Board functioning and also attended one 
of the Board meetings.

The collective review of Board effectiveness was executed via face-to- 
face interviews and utilization of the firm’s evaluation tools. The review 
confirmed that the Board is on a journey of continuous improvement 
with the opportunity to improve in the areas of deeper engagement 
of the non-executive Directors in-between Board meetings coupled 
with an improved knowledge of the operating and strategic model of 
the Mytilineos Group. Following the exercise, the Group implemented 
a number of key initiatives – strengthening of the Lead Independent 
Director function and the institutionalization of 4-5 non-executive 
Director Board meetings per annum to further increase involvement 
and impact of the non-executive Directors. Additionally, the exercise 
highlighted the opportunity to improve Board capability in the areas 
of Audit and Risk and Compliance, with the subsequent addition as 
Board Directors of Mr. A. Bartzokas (former Chairman of EBRD’s Audit 
Committee) and Mrs N. Nicolaidis (former global Head of Credit Suisse 
Investment Banking Risk and Compliance division).

The individual assessment review completed in early 2022 involved face 
to face interviews of all Board Directors as well as of the Corporate 
Secretary, completion of an online questionnaire and subsequent uti-
lization Egon Zender’s psychometric tools. Key competencies analyzed 

included Board Results Orientation, Strategic Orien-
tation, Collaboration and Influencing, Independence 
and Integrity, Interpersonal Style and Relevant Experi-
ence. The findings further reinforced the findings of 
the collective evaluation as well as progress achieved. 

As a conclusion, the 2 Board evaluation exercises 
strengthened the Board’s journey of continuous im-
provement whilst the initiatives executed have al-
ready shown a material improvement in the ability 
of the Board to add value through strengthened and 
more continuous involvement.

A separate initiative which was launched for the first 
time was an annual evaluation of the Chairman & 
CEO, led by the Lead Independent Director and re-
viewed by the Remuneration and Nomination Com-
mittee. The evaluation was carried out along differ-
ent areas of CEO accountability, including Strategic 
Development, Organizational effectiveness, Board Ef-
fectiveness, ESG progress and delivery of 2021 Finan-
cial Targets. The evaluation was discussed with the 
Chairman & CEO both individually and at Board level 
and was a critical input into the 2021 STIP review.

Provision 22. Evaluation follow-up

On the conclusion of the evaluation, the recommen-
dations were reviewed at Board level during 2021 
and a plan of initiatives was approved. As a follow-up 
step, the Non-Executive Directors met separately and 
discussed further initiatives to build on the specific 
role of the Non-Executive Directors. The Remunera-
tion and Nomination Committee will also monitor 
progress. The Remuneration and Nomination Com-
mittee will monitor that any weaknesses identified 
are addressed. 

Provision 23. Reporting on the Nomination 
Committee

In order to fill the vacancy of two independent non-
executive members of the Board of Directors, the 
combined Remuneration and Nomination Commit-
tee, taking into account a) the Company's Policy for 
the Suitability Assessment of the Members of the 
Board of Directors b) the Company’s strategy and c) 
the results of the Board of Directors evaluation, de-
scribed the role, skills and necessary personal charac-
teristics which will enhance the knowledge and skills 
of the Board as a whole. 

The Committee employed the services of Egon 
Zehnder, the independent external advisor who had 
also provided advice to the Company on the 2018 
nominee search for the current Board. The Commit-
tee reviewed a long list of candidates, which was 
shortened subsequently, interviewed candidates so 
to propose Ms. Natalia Nikolaidis and Mr. Anthony 
Bartzokas as preferred nominees to the Board, in re-
placement of two resigned independent non-execu-
tive members. Ms. Nicolaidis brings solid internation-
al experience specifically in the areas of Corporate 
Governance, Compliance and Risk Management, 
which will complement well the current capabilities 
of the Board. The Board appointed Ms. Nikolaidis as 
independent non-executive member on 02.02.2021. 
Mr. Bartzokas has experience for several years in in-
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ternational investment businesses with in depth knowledge of emerging markets 
as well as audit committee function, while his election will further strengthen the 
independent percentage of the board of directors.

By resolution of the General Meeting of 15 June 2021, the shareholders approved 
the appointment of Ms.  Nikolaidis as independent non-executive member of the 
Board of Directors in replacement and for the rest of the term of office of the 
resigned independent non-executive member, Mr. Georgios Chrysikos, i.e. until 
07.06.2022. 

Furthermore, by resolution of the General Meeting of 15 June 2021, the share-
holders elected Mr. Anthony Bartzokas as independent member of the Board of 
Directors with a term until 07.06.2022, in replacement of the resigned independ-
ent non-executive member, Mr. Christos Zerefos.

For future appointments the Remuneration and Nomination Committee shall pre-
pare a description of the role, capabilities and personal attributes required for a 
particular appointment. Essential feedback for new appointments will come from 
the Board effectiveness review which will be completed in 2022. 

Moreover, the Committee reviewed the non-executive directors as for: 

• the balance of the number of independent non-executive Directors;

• the length of service  of independent non-executive Directors;

• any situational conflict which a director may have with the interests of the Com-
pany

• gender representation.

Additionally the Committee reviewed the fulfilment of the independence criteria 
of all the independent non-executive Directors, and informed the Board which in 
turn ascertained the fulfilment of the independence criteria of the said Directors.
The Company has developed a diversity policy regarding the members of the Board 
of Directors and senior executives, which states clear objectives, presented in detail 
in Section 6. As at 31.12.2021 gender diversity at Board level stood at 27%.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee discussed and approved the Policy 
for the Suitability Assessment of the Members of the Board of Directors (Suit-
ability Policy), which has been approved by decision of the General Meeting of 
15.06.2021, following the approval of the Board of Directors by its resolution dat-
ed 12.05.2021, and constitutes the set of principles and criteria that apply when 
selecting, replacing, and re-appointing Board members, in terms of assessing their 
suitability on an individual and collective level. This Policy aims to ensure the qual-
ity of recruitment to the Board, its effective functioning and fulfilment of its role, 
based on the Company’s general strategy and medium and long -term business 
goals for promoting its corporate interest. Further information on the Suitability 
Policy is available in Section 2.6.

The first ever formal succession planning exercise was completed in late 2021 with 
facilitation provided by Egon Zehnder. The selection process was reviewed by the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee and elevated to the Board with the 
selection based on the local relevance of Egon Zehnder as well as their deep knowl-
edge of the Group. The exercise covered the CEO and 14 direct reports utilizing 
Egon Zehnder’s global succession planning template. The objective of the exercise 
was one of mapping both the collective and individual skill set of the executive 
team and comparing this with the executive capabilities required by the Company 
over the foreseeable future. This exercise was a key input to address the succession 
planning needs of the Group. 

The executive assessment framework took a holistic approach to calibrate leader-
ship competencies that are critical to the success of the Group, through personal 
interviews as well as utilization of management assessment tools. Critical compe-
tencies reviewed included Strategic Orientation, Results Orientation, Collaboration 
and Influencing, Team Leadership, Change Leadership and Building Organizational 
Capabilities.  

A set of recommendations were submitted to ensure 
the Group develops the right competencies to ad-
dress the challenges and opportunities of the future. 
A critical initiative relates to the further development 
of high potential executives through the expansion 
of their responsibilities and the implementation of 
personal development plans. Additionally, all execu-
tives involved went through a face-to-face feedback 
session with the facilitator to help improve their lead-
ership effectiveness.

Board effectiveness was addressed via 2 initiatives – 
first, an external assessment of the Board’s collective 
capabilities that was discussed by the Board in 2020 
and secondly, a follow up review was completed in 
2022 that focusses on individual capabilities and 
Board impact. Following a review of available provid-
ers, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
proposed Egon Zender to facilitate the process based 
on their leading position in the Greek marketplace, 
knowledge of the Mytilineos Group and the value of 
their proprietary global template in evaluating Board 
performance. The facilitator was granted full access 
to the operating details of the Board functioning and 
also attended one of the Board meetings.

The collective review of Board effectiveness was ex-
ecuted via face-to- face interviews and utilization 
of the firm’s evaluation tools. The review confirmed 
that the Board is on a journey of continuous im-
provement with the opportunity to improve in the 
areas of deeper engagement of the non-executive 
Directors in-between Board meetings coupled with 
an improved knowledge of the operating and stra-
tegic model of the Mytilineos Group. Following the 
exercise, the Group implemented a number of key 
initiatives – strengthening of the Lead Independent 
Director function and the institutionalization of 4-5 
non-executive Director Board meetings per annum to 
further increase involvement and impact of the non-
executive Directors. Additionally, the exercise high-
lighted the opportunity to improve Board capability 
in the areas of Audit and Risk and Compliance, with 
the subsequent addition as Board Directors of Mr. A. 
Bartzokas (former Chairman of EBRD’s Audit Com-
mittee) and Mrs N. Nicolaidis (former global Head of 
Credit Suisse Investment Banking Risk and Compli-
ance division).

The individual assessment review completed in early 
2022 involved face to face interviews of all Board Di-
rectors as well as of the Corporate secretary, com-
pletion of an online questionnaire and subsequent 
utilization Egon Zender’s psychometric tools. Key 
competencies analyzed included Board Results Ori-
entation, Strategic Orientation, Collaboration and In-
fluencing, Independence and Integrity, Interpersonal 
Style and Relevant Experience. The findings further 
reinforced the findings of the collective evaluation as 
well as progress achieved. 

As a conclusion, the two Board evaluation exercises 
strengthened the Board’s journey of continuous im-
provement whilst the initiatives executed have al-
ready shown a material improvement in the ability 
of the Board to add value through strengthened and 
more continuous involvement.
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Furthermore, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee informed 
the Board on the work of the Committee during 2021 and approved 
amendments of its Terms of Reference, the Training Policy of the Mem-
bers of the Board of Directors, and the Policy on Board Members’ In-
dependence, which also establishes the procedure and rules to be fol-
lowed, on the one hand, for notifying any dependency relationship of 
the independent Board members and of the persons closely associated 
with them; and, on the other hand, for assessing the fulfilment of in-
dependence criteria.

1.4 Audit, risk and internal audit
Principle M: Internal and external audit

The Audit Committee of the Company has been established with the 
purpose of assisting the Board of Directors to fulfil its oversight respon-
sibilities of the audit procedures for complying with the legal and regu-
latory framework regarding: (a) financial information, (b) internal audit, 
(c) the system of internal controls and the risk management system, 
and (d) supervision of the (external) statutory audit of the Company's 
individual and consolidated financial statements.

While all members of the Board individually and collectively have a duty 
to act in the interests of the company, the Committee has a particular 
role, acting independently from the executive Board Members, to en-
sure that the interests of shareholders are properly protected in relation 
to financial reporting and internal control and risk management sys-
tems. However, the Board has overall responsibility for the Company's 
approach to risk management and the system of internal controls.

The Audit Committee revisited its terms of reference. No major amend-
ments were necessary. 

Principle N: The company’s position and prospects 

At the end of each business year, the Board of Directors prepares the 
annual financial statements, the annual consolidated financial state-
ments and the management report. 

The financial statements constitute a single comprehensive set and give 
a fair presentation of the recognized assets, liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses, profit and loss, as well as the cash flows of the period con-
cerned, as the case may be, in conformance with the law. More spe-
cifically, the Board of Directors is required to prepare, pursuant to the 
above provisions:  (a) the Balance Sheet or Financial Position Statement, 
(b) the Income Statement, (c) the Statement of Equity Change, (d) the 
Cash Flow Statement, (e) the Notes to the Financial Statements.

The management report provides: 

(a) A fair review of the development and performance of the Company 
business and its position, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties faced by the Company;

(b) A review that presents a balanced and comprehensive analysis of the 
development and performance of the Company business and position, 
consistent with the size and the complexity of the Company;

(c) To the extent necessary for an understanding of the development, 
performance or position of the Company, the said analysis includes 
both financial and, where appropriate, non-financial key performance 
indicators relevant to the particular business of the Company, includ-
ing information on environmental and labour issues. In the context of 
this analysis, the report includes, where appropriate, references and 
additional explanations on the amounts shown in the annual financial 
statements.

In the management report the Company includes:
(a) a non-financial statement that includes informa-
tion, to the extent necessary for an understanding of 
the development, performance, position and impact 
of its activities in relation, as a minimum, to envi-
ronmental, social and labour issues, the respect of 
human rights, anti-corruption and anti-bribery prac-
tices	

(b) the corporate governance statement; this state-
ment is included as a separate part in the manage-
ment report.

Principle O: Determining and managing risks 

The Board defines the strategy and is informed on 
significant risk factors such as financial, environmen-
tal, social, health and safety, and governance.

The Company has defined risk as a set of uncertain 
and unpredictable situations that may affect all its 
activities, its business operation and its financial per-
formance, as well as the implementation of its strat-
egy and the achievement of its goals

In line with this approach, it has established a specific 
risk management approach in all its areas of activity 
where certain risks have been recognized. This ap-
proach consists of the following steps:

- Identification and assessment of risk factors

- Planning of the risk management policy

- Implementation and evaluation of the risk manage-
ment policy.

The Company has defined specific and comprehen-
sive Risk Management Procedures. All executives are 
involved in the process of identifying and initially as-
sessing risk to facilitate the work of the management 
of each business sector and the Board of Directors in 
the planning and approval of specific actions within 
the approved Risk Management Procedures.

With regard to Non-Financial Information, since 2010 
the Company has introduced a specific Stakeholder 
engagement process for evaluating the materiality 
of the sustainability issues which are related to its 
activity sectors. This process, combined with the cor-
responding prioritization of these issues by the Com-
pany’s Business Units, is at the core of the account-
ability policy applied by the Company. 

The process for determining the material sustainabil-
ity issues is an ongoing exercise that is constantly de-
veloped and improved. The purpose of this process is 
to highlight the issues that reflect the Company’s sig-
nificant environmental and social impacts and influ-
ence substantially the decisions of its Stakeholders. 

By identifying and understanding the material sus-
tainability issues, the Company formulates and devel-
ops its uniform business strategy and its aims, targets 
and social and environmental initiatives.
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Last but not least, the Company conducts regular internal audits to ensure the 
appropriate and effective implementation of the risk identification and assessment 
processes and of the management policies for such risks.

Provision 24 Audit committee composition 

At the AGM of 15 June 2021, the shareholders decided that the Audit Commit-
tee shall be a committee of the Board of Directors, which shall consist from three 
independent non-executive members whose term of office shall be the same as 
their term in the Board of Directors. 

The Committee members as a whole have sufficient knowledge in the sectors in 
which the Company operates and at least one of its members has proven sufficient 
recent knowledge in auditing and accounting and is required to attend the meet-
ings of the Committee concerning the approval of financial statements.

The assessment for the selection of the candidate 
Committee members is conducted by the Board of 
Directors, on the recommendation of the Company’s 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

The Committee has a Secretary, which cooperates 
with the Corporate Secretary and is responsible for 
supporting the operation of the Committee in gen-
eral, including the keeping of the minutes and the 
proper implementation of the Committee meetings. 

The Committee Chair is appointed by the committee 
members. The chair of the Board cannot be a mem-
ber of the Committee.

Composition and meetings of the Audit Committee in 2021 

Composition of the Audit Committee Status Tenure in office
Meetings during 2021

(01.01.2021-31.12.2021)
Total number of 16

Attendance rate of 
meetings

Alexios Pilavios Chairman 07.06.2018 – 07.06.2022 16/16 100%

Konstantina Mavraki Member 02.02.2021-07.06.2022 16/16 100%

Anthony Bartzokas Member 15.06.2021-07.06.2022 16/16 100%

Ioannis Petrides Member 07.06.2018 – 02.02.2021 (*) 1/16 100%

Constantine Cotsilinis Member 07.06.2018 – 15.06.2021 (**) 7/16 100%

Attorney Mrs Vassiliki Prantzou is the Committee’s Secretary. 

(*) On 02.02.2021, Mr. Petridis, after his appointment as a Lead Independent Di-
rector, in addition to his role as Chair of the Remuneration and Nomination Com-
mittee and due to the increased workload, resigned from the Committee and was 
succeeded by Mrs. Petridis. Mavraki, independent non-executive member of the 
Board of Directors.

(**) The AGM of the Company's shareholders, in accordance with the provisions 
of article 44 of Law 4449/2017, as amended and in force, decided that the Com-
mittee will be a committee of the Board of Directors, which will consist of three 
independent non-executive members of the Board of Directors. Following the 
relevant decision, the Board of Directors has appointed three of its independent 
members as members of the Committee. In this context, Mr Bartzokas succeeded 
the outgoing Member of the Commission, Mr Kotsilinis who it has been decided, 
will continue to support  the Committee providing services aw an advisor.

Provision 25 Role of the audit committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight re-
sponsibilities on the audit procedures to ensure compliance with the legal and 
regulatory framework regarding:  

(a) financial information; 

(b) the System of Internal Controls, including the Internal Audit Division, the Risk 
Management Function, and the Regulatory Compliance Function; and 

(c) supervision of the (external) statutory audit of the Company's individual and 
consolidated financial statements.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are:

• to monitor the financial reporting process with the view to ensure its integrity;

• to monitor the effectiveness of the Company’s sys-
tem of internal controls, quality assurance and risk 
management and, where appropriate, of the Internal 
Audit Division as regards financial information (with-
out impairing the independence of this Division and 
in accordance with the applicable legal and regula-
tory framework), as well as to have the day-to-day 
responsibility for management of the System of In-
ternal Controls (the Board of Directors has ultimate 
responsibility for the effectiveness of the Company’s 
System of Internal Controls);

• to review and approve the role and mandate of the 
Internal Audit Division, approve the annual internal 
audit plan and monitor, inspect and review the ef-
fectiveness of the function and work of the Internal 
Audit Division; 

• to monitor the statutory audit of the annual and 
consolidated financial statements of the Company, 
and in particular its performance, as well as to review 
the effectiveness of the audit process, and to oversee 
the Company's relations with the statutory auditor 
(responsibility for the process of selecting the statu-
tory auditor, annual assessment of its qualifications 
and independence, proposals to the Board on the 
appointment, reappointment and/or removal of the 
statutory auditor, etc.).

When requested by the Board, the Audit Committee 
assesses whether the annual financial report, includ-
ing the annual financial statement and the manage-
ment report, reflects in a true, fair, balanced and un-
derstandable manner the development, performance 
and financial position of the company and of the 
businesses included in group consolidation, taken as 
a whole.
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The Committee considers and examines the most significant issues and 
risks that may have an impact on the Company's annual and interim 
financial statements and other periodic financial information, as well 
as the critical judgments and estimates made by Management in their 
preparation. For the above issues and risks the Committee has regard to 
matters communicated to it by the External Auditor, as well as his view 
of Management's estimates, and informs the Board.

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Company's internal con-
trol and risk management systems, including the System of Financial 
Internal Controls and the Financial Risk Management System. It is in the 
Audit Committee's remit to oversee them and to inform the Board ac-
cordingly. There is no separate risk committee at board level. 

The Committee has primary responsibility for the appointment of the 
key audit partner (external auditor). This includes negotiating the fee 
and scope of the audit, initiating a tender process, influencing the ap-
pointment of an engagement partner and making formal recommenda-
tions to the board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of 
the external auditors.

The Internal Audit Division is functionally independent of any other or-
ganizational unit of the Company. The Director of the Internal Audit 
Division is appointed by the Board on recommendation of the Audit 
Committee. It is up to the Committee to ensure that the internal au-
dit functions in accordance with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. The Committee reviews and 
approves the role of the Internal Audit Division, approves the annual 
audit program and monitor, inspects and examines the effectiveness 
of its work. 

The Audit Committee assesses the independence and objectivity of 
the annually in accordance with articles 21, 22, 23, 26 and 27 of law 
4449/2017 and with articles 4 and 6 of Regulation (EU) no. 537/2014 
and in particular assesses the appropriateness of the provision of non-
audit services to the Company in accordance with article 5 of Regula-
tion (EU) no. 537/2014.

The Audit Committee takes into account the regular auditor's annual 
declaration of independence and discusses with him threats that may 
call into question his independence, as well as ways to ensure that these 
threats are addressed. The Audit Committee examines whether the re-
lationships, taking into account the views of the external auditor, the 
Management and the internal auditor, as appropriate, appear to affect 
the auditor's independence and objectivity.

The Committee assesses the effectiveness of the audit process consid-
ering  of mind-set and culture; skills, character and knowledge; quality 
control; and judgment, including the robustness and perceptiveness of 
the auditors in handling key judgements, responding to questions from 
the Committee, and in its commentary where appropriate on the sys-
tems of internal control.

The Committee is responsible for approving non-audit services, that are 
not prohibited by law. The Committee ensures that the provision of 
such services does not impair the External Auditor’s independence or 
objectivity by applying judgement, including assessing: 

• threats to independence and objectivity resulting from the provision 
of such services and any safeguards in place to eliminate or reduce these 
threats to a level where they would not compromise the auditor’s inde-
pendence and objectivity; 

• the nature of the non-audit services; 

• whether the skills and experience of the audit firm make it the most 
suitable supplier of the non-audit service; 

• the fees incurred, or to be incurred, for non-audit 
services both for individual services and in aggregate, 
relative to the audit fee, including special terms and 
conditions (for example contingent fee arrange-
ments); and 

• the criteria which govern the compensation of the 
individuals performing the audit.

Further information on the remit, responsibilities 
and the modus operandi of the Audit Committee 
are available in the Committee’s Terms of Reference, 
which have been released in the Company’ s website 
www.mytilineos.gr at the following address: https://
www.mytilineos.gr/who-we-are/governance/corpo-
rate-governance/committees#section1.

Provision 26. Reporting on the audit committee

For 2021, the Audit Committee met frequently (16 
times in total) and discussed on all the topics fall-
ing under the areas of its responsibilities, with main 
focus on: a) External Audit and Financial Reporting 
process, b) Internal Audit, c) Internal Control System, 
d) Organisational matters, e) Other topics relevant to 
the mandate of the Committee. All the Committee’ 
s decisions were unanimous.

All members of the Audit Committee attended all the 
meetings for 2021. The meetings of the Committee 
that concern the approval of the financial statements 
were attended by all the members of the Committee, 
as well as by the advisor, Mr. Cotsilinis, who is inde-
pendent to the Company, and has sufficient knowl-
edge and experience in auditing or accounting.

In addition to the members of the Committee, the 
Secretary and the Corporate Secretary participate in 
the meetings when they are not the same person. It 
is at the discretion of the Committee to invite, when-
ever deemed appropriate, other members of the 
Board, or other key persons from inside and outside 
the Company, to inform it and / or attend a specific 
meeting or specific items of the agenda. The Chief Fi-
nancial Officer (CFO), the Treasury General Manager, 
the Internal Audit Director, the Compliance Director, 
the Non-financial enterprise risk Manager as well as 
the statutory auditor or audit firm are invited regu-
larly to the Committee meetings, at the Committee 
Chair's initiative.

Financial Reporting

Publication of non-audited financial figures and 
other key information - «Flash Note»

The Finance Division presented to the Committee the 
preliminary financial results which were published 
subsequently by the Company in the form of “Flash 
Note” for the financial year ended 31 December 
2020, as well as for the period from 01 January 2021 
to 30 June 2021 respectively. The aforementioned 
“Flash Note” referred to non-audited financial fig-
ures and estimates of the Management and forecasts 
relating to financial data or other events of the above 
periods. It is noted, however, that the external audi-
tor carried out specific pre-agreed procedures on the 
“Flash Note”, for the purpose of issuing “Comfort 
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Letter” to the Company's Management. In the “Comfort Letter” of the exter-
nal auditors, no disagreements were expressed with regards to the data reported 
through the “Flash Note”. The Committee did not identify any gaps or deviations 
in the information and safeguards provided to it and proposed  to the Board the 
approval of the publication of the “Flash Note”. Finally, the Committee reviewed 
the relevant press releases on the “Flash Note”.

Financial Statements 2021

In February 2022, the  Audit Committee was informed by the Finance Division 
about the Company's Financial Statements, both at company and at consolidated 
level, which were prepared in accordance with the IFRS for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2021.  The Committee was also informed regarding the main accounting 
assumptions the Company adopted for preparing the Financial Statements which 
did not differ from those adopted by the Company in 2020, and regarding the 
key issues the Finance Division considered while preparing these Statements. The 
Committee was informed that the new or amended IFRS, that were firstly applied 
in 2021, did not have any significant impact to the Company.

The Committee discussed with the external auditor (Grant Thornton) and the 
Finance Division the key audit matters during the audit of the Company's an-
nual financial statements for the financial year ended 31.12.2021. The Commit-
tee drafted an explanatory report for the Board of Directors and recommended 
that the Board approves the Financial Statements. In this report, the Committee 
explained to the Board how the mandatory audit contributed to the integrity of 
financial reporting and what the role of the Committee was in this process. In this 
context, the Committee evaluated and concluded that the annual financial report, 
along with the annual financial statements and the annual management report 
of the Company, reflect in a true, fair, balanced and understandable manner the 
evolution, performance and position of the Company, as well as of the companies 
included in the consolidation, and provide the required information to the share-
holders. The Committee also informed the Board that the external auditors have 
contributed substantially to the integrity of the Financial Statements with their 
experience and independent assurance that the financial statements reasonably 
present, in all material aspects, the financial position of the Company and the 
Group as at 31st December 2021, their financial performance and their cash flow 
for the year ended on that date. 

Financial Results 1st  quarter 2021 

The Finance Division informed the Committee on the financial results of 1st quar-
ter 2021 and brought to its attention the draft relevant announcement to the 
investors. The Committee after receiving assurance on the correctness and accu-
racy of the information that will be made public, expressed its satisfaction for the 
Company progress.

Semi-Annual Financial Results 2021

The Finance Division informed the Committee on the semi-annual financial results 
of 2021 and no gaps or deviations were identified in the assurance provided on the 
correctness and accuracy of the information. The Committee drafted an explana-
tory report on the review of the Company's half-yearly individual and consolidated 
financial statements to the Board.

Financial Results 3rd quarter 2021 

The Finance Division informed the Committee on the financial results of 3rd quar-
ter 2021 and brought to its attention the relevant draft announcement to the 
investors. The Committee after receiving assurance on the correctness and accu-
racy of the information that will be made public, expressed its satisfaction for the 
evolution the Company.

External Auditors

Appointment of the external auditors

The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for the appointment of the key 
audit partner (external auditor). This includes negotiating the fee and scope of the 

audit, initiating a tender process, expressing an opin-
ion regarding the appointment of an engagement 
partner and making formal recommendations to the 
Board on the appointment, reappointment and re-
moval of the external auditors. 

In April 2021, the Committee, after assessing the 
work of Grant Thornton, which is the Company's ex-
ternal auditor, and taking into account, inter alia, the 
opinion of the Finance Division, decided to propose 
to the Board of Directors the reappointment of the 
audit firm Grant Thornton as external auditor for the 
fiscal year 2021.

The Committee, following dialogue between the 
Company and the shareholders, has agreed to sched-
ule discussions within the year 2022, among others 
including the Finance Division, in order to initiate pre-
paratory work for the conduct of a tender for the 
selection of a new external auditor, in the context of 
the implementation of Regulation (EU) No  537/2014 
of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 
April 2014 and the relevant transitional provisions of 
article 52 of Law 4449/2017 regarding the specific re-
quirements for the statutory audit of public-interest 
entities.

Safeguarding independence and objectivity, and 
maintaining effectiveness 

In its relationship with the external auditor, the Com-
mittee needs to ensure that the external auditor re-
tain their independence and objectivity and are effec-
tive in performing the statutory audit. Both the Board 
and the external auditor have policies and procedures 
designed to protect the independence and objectivity 
of the external auditor. 

The Committee considered the external auditors an-
nual declaration of independence and discussed with 
them threats that may threaten their independence, 
as well as ways to ensure that these threats are ad-
dressed. The Committee examined whether the rela-
tionships, considering the views of the external audi-
tor, of the Management and of the internal audit, as 
appropriate, appear to affect the auditor's independ-
ence and objectivity.

In 2021, the external auditors submitted to the Com-
mittee the declaration of their independence from 
the Company in accordance with the Code of Eth-
ics for Professional Accountants of the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) 
and the ethical requirements related to the audit of 
the financial statements in Greece.

Financial Statements

The Audit Committee has devoted a significant time 
of its meetings in order to be informed and discuss 
on the process for the preparation of the annual and 
semi-annual Financial Statements. Main matters and 
activities performed are as follows:
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Matter Activity

Statutory Audit Planning The External Auditors presented to the Committee a report, which, inter alia, reflected 
the plan of communication between the external auditors and the Committee in relation 
to the timing of the statutory audit, of the separate and consolidated statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries for the financial year 31.12.2021, the audit teams and 
specialists, as well as a reference to the key audit matters during the audit planning and 
in particular to the identified risks of the financial statements.

Audit of Annual Financial 
Statements – Key Audit Matters

The Committee monitored the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements for 
the financial year ended 31.12.2021 by the external auditors. 

The external auditors commented, inter alia, on the determination of materiality and 
discussed with the Committee on the methodology and parameters for its determination. 
More specifically, the external auditors informed the Committee that for the calculation 
of materiality, the Earnings Before Tax has been defined as an appropriate benchmark, 
given that the Company is listed on the Athens Stock Exchange

In the discussions with the external auditors, particular emphasis was placed on the “Key 
Audit Matters” as identified by the external auditors, and how they these were treated 
during the audit. 

• Revenue Recognition: this was considered as a key audit matter, given the complexity 
of the volume of transactions, the use of IT systems as well as management’s judgements 
and estimates, which include a degree of uncertainty. 

• Assessment of whether non-current assets may be impaired: this was as a key 
audit matter, given the significant amounts of these assets and the use of management’s 
assumptions and estimates for the determination of the relative recoverable amounts.

• Provisions and contingent liabilities: The determination of provisions or disclosures 
of contingent liabilities and contingent assets which relate to litigation claims and 
arbitration procedures has been considered as a key audit matter as it includes significant 
management judgments based on legal advisors’ estimations. 

The Committee examined and discussed in detail the above issues with the external 
auditors, without the presence of executives of the Company’s Finance Division.

Report of the Audit Committee 
to the Board of Directors on the 
Financial Statements 2020

The Committee, following the review of the Financial Statements of the parent company 
and the Group for the year ended 31st December 2020 and the discussions held with the 
Finance Division and the external auditors, proposed their approval to the Board.

Tax Audit The external auditors, in a meeting with the Committee without the presence of 
executives of the Company’s Finance Division, informed the members of the Committee 
about:

• the completion of the tax audit which they carried out in accordance with Article 65A 
para. 1 of Law 4174/2013 and POL.1124/2015, as amended in force, for the Company 
itself and those of its Greek subsidiaries that have been subject to the tax audit for the 
year 2020. 

• the Tax Compliance Reports issued in the context of the above tax audit and the 
evolution of tax audits by the authorities.
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Matter Activity

Review of Interim Financial 
Statements

The external auditors informed, through a relevant report/ presentation, the Committee on their 
review of the Interim Financial Statements for the first half of 2021 carried out in accordance with 
ISA. The auditors referred, inter alia, to the scope and areas, as well as their procedures for the review 
of the Group, the determination of materiality, non- unrecorded misstatements and the key issues 
of their review.

Additional Report to the Audit 
Committee for 2021

The External Auditors submitted and presented to the Committee their additional report, as 
provided by article 11 of EU Regulation 537/2014 on their audit of the Company and Group Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Additional Report to the Audit 
Committee for 2020

The External Auditors submitted and presented to the Committee their additional report, as 
provided by article 11 of EU Regulation 537/2014 on their audit of the Company and Group Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Use of the external auditors for non-audit services 

The Audit Committee monitors the external auditors’ compliance with the provi-
sions of Regulation (EU) No 537/ 2014, as in force, regarding the level of the total 
fees paid by the Company to them in proportion to the overall fee income of the 
Statutory Auditor or their overall fee income from audit services, as well as other 
related regulatory requirements, so that the external auditor's independence and 
objectivity is not impaired by the amount of work provided to the Company.

The Committee is responsible for approving non-audit services to the Group enti-
ties that are not prohibited by law. The Committee considers that the external au-
ditors have significant knowledge of the Group’s business and of how accounting 
policies are applied. That means it is sometimes cost-efficient for them to provide 
non-audit services. There may also be confidentiality reasons that make the exter-
nal auditors the preferred choice for a particular non-audit asignment. 

However, safeguarding the external auditors’ objectivity and independence is an 
overriding priority. For this reason, the Committee ensures that the provision of 
such services does not impair the External Auditor’s independence or objectivity. 

In the context of non-audit services, whose provision by the Statutory Auditor is 
not prohibited by law, the Committee should apply judgement on and assess the 
following:

• threats to independence and objectivity resulting from the provision of such 
services and any safeguards in place to eliminate or reduce these threats to a level 
where they would not compromise the auditor’s independence and objectivity, 

• the nature of the non-audit services,

• whether the skills and experience of the audit firm make it the most suitable 
supplier of the non-audit services, 

• the fees incurred, or to be incurred, for non-audit services both for individual 
services and in aggregate, relative to the audit fee, including special terms and 
conditions (for example contingent fee arrangements), and 

• the criteria which govern the compensation of the individuals performing the 
audit.

During 2021, the Committee examined the non-audit services that were proposed 
to be performed by the external auditor for the Company or subsidiaries of the 
Group, where the Committee, after evaluating the nature of proposed services 
and receiving relevant clarifications, declarations and assurance from the external 
auditor, considered that they did not pose a threat to the external auditor's inde-

pendence in accordance with the provisions of article 
44 of Law 4449/2017 and article 5 of Regulation (EU) 
537/2014. The relevant non-audit services concerned 
pre-agreed procedures (a) in relation to the prepa-
ration of the financial statements (including the Ex-
planatory Notes), which would concern fund agree-
ments, calculations, drafts, data collection, analysis 
and related processing thereof, with the note that 
these analysis would be based on an approved trial 
by each Management function,  as well as that the 
adjustment entries would be subject to the approval 
of the  each Management function of the subsidiar-
ies, (b) in the context of supporting the respective 
Management function for the technical implementa-
tion of the conversion processes to IFRS, (c) on the 
calculation of financial indicators of the Company 
and its subsidiaries in the context of their compliance 
with the requirements of loan agreements with the 
creditors (banks), (d) regarding the proper compila-
tion of the company's financial statements per ac-
tivity / sector, in accordance with the provisions of 
Law 4001/2001, (d) for the audit of the Remunera-
tion Report of the Company, (e) on each Flash Report 
and Trading Update of the Company, (f) for the issu-
ance of  comfort letter and bring down letter in the 
context of the issuance of bonds by the Company, 
negotiable in the Luxembourg Euro MFT Market , (g) 
for the issuance of assurance reports in the context of 
the examination of the implementation of the finan-
cial scope of the Company's investment plans and its 
subsidiaries that have been subject to the provisions 
of Law 4399/2016, and (h) on the financial data for 
the table " CONSTRUCTION EXPERIENCE AND COM-
PETENCE DATA " in the context of the Company's 
participation in public tenders.

Neither the work done, nor the fees payable of the 
assigned non audit services, compromised the inde-
pendence or objectivity of our external auditors.
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Internal Audit

In monitoring the activity, role and effectiveness of the Internal Audit Division (IAD) and their audit program the Committee had 
frequent meetings with the Internal Audit Director. The main matters examined through 2021 related to the following:

Matter Activity

Internal Audit Results The Committee was informed by the Internal Audit Division regarding the audits 
performed and the reports issued during 2021. The Committee considered the major 
findings of the internal audits, as well as Management’s response.

Internal Audit Plan 2022 The Committee was informed by the Internal Audit Division about the progress of the 
preparation of the audit plan for the year 2022.

Internal Audit Coverage The Committee monitored the progress of internal audit assignments performed by the 
Internal Audit Division, which related to the coverage of key risk areas, based on the risk 
based Internal Audit Plan 2021.

Annual Evaluation of the Internal 
Audit Director

The Committee, within the 2nd quarter of 2021 finalized the evaluation of the Internal 
Audit Division’s Director.

Succession Plan of the Internal 
Audit Director

The Committee, in the context of the implementation of best practices and considering 
the needs of the Company and the market conditions, discussed on the succession 
planning process of the Internal Audit Director.
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Internal Control System

Specific related matters that the Committee considered for the year 2021 included the following activities:

Matter Activity

Financial Risks The Committee was informed by the Finance Division and the Risk Management Division regarding 
the management of financial risks.

ESG Risks The Committee was informed by the Corporate Governance and Sustainability General Division 
about the main ESG risk categories and the role the Sustainability Division in ESG risk management 
and mitigation.

Project for the assessment of 
the adequacy of the procedures 
of central and support function 
within the COSO 2013 
framework

The Committee was informed about the progress of the project “Assessment of the adequacy of 
the processes of central and support functions within the framework of COSO 2013 Internal Control 
System” by the Management, as well as by the external consultant to whom the relevant project 
has been assigned.

Information Systems Security The Committee discussed with the Information Technology Division about the security of the IT 
systems. A presentation for the topic of “Cyber Security - Global threat landscape and MYTILINEOS 
perspective” was performed.

Evaluation of the internal 
control procedures over financial 
reporting  of the Company 
and the Group by the External 
Auditors

The external auditors presented to the Committee their report for the evaluation of the internal 
control procedures over financial reporting of the Company and the Group based on their audit for 
the year 2020 (Management letter).

Regulatory Compliance The Committee was informed by the Compliance Division on the work, results and planning of its 
activities.
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Other significant matters

Matter Activity

Management Information 
System (MIS)

The Committee was informed on MIS matters by the Finance Division.

Infrastructure Projects The Committee was informed on infrastructure projects by the Infrastructure Segment of 
the Sustainable Engineering Solutions (SES) Business Unit.

European climate goals & 
Sustainable Finance

The Committee was informed by the European Affairs Division on the following issues: 

• Fit for 55: The European Commission’s legislative proposals to achieve Europe’s climate 
goals.

• Sustainable Finance/EU Taxonomy: Disclosure requirements

Work program for 2022 The Committee approved its working program for the year 2022.

Reports to the Board of Directors The Committee prepared and submitted reports on its activities to the Board of Directors 
for the year ended 31 December 2020, and for the quarters ended 31 December 2021, 
31 March 2021, 30 June 2021, and September 30, 2021.

Annual Report on the activities 
of the Audit Committee for the 
year ended 2020

The Committee submitted its Annual Report on its activities for the year ended 2020 to 
the General Assembly of the Shareholders of 15th June 2021.

The Audit Committee expressed its satisfaction for the above informa-
tion and the progress of the relevant work/projects in progress.

Provision 27. Confirmation that the annual report is a fair, bal-
anced and understandable representation

The directors certify that (a) the annual financial statements of the Com-
pany drawn up in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, 
reflect in a true manner the assets and liabilities, equity and results of 
Mytilineos, as well as of the businesses included in the Group consolida-
tion, taken as a whole and also that  (b) the Management Report of the 
Board of Directors reflects in a true manner the development, perfor-
mance and financial position Mytilineos and of the businesses included 
in the Group consolidation, taken as a whole, including the description 
of the principal risks and uncertainties. The directors state that they 
consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, as fair, bal-
anced and understandable.

Provision 28. Risk assessment

Financial and non-financial risk assessment is provided in the Board's 
Management Report included in the Annual Report.

Provision 29. Risk management and internal controls

The Board of Directors re-examines in a continuous and consistent way 
the corporate strategy and the principal business risks, especially in a 
constantly changing financial and business environment. Moreover, the 
Board receives at regular intervals from the Audit Committee reports on 

the activities of the audits carried out, based on the 
annual schedule of audits planned by the Company's 
Internal Audit Division. The above allow the Board to 
form a detailed opinion of the effectiveness of the 
systems, processes and regulations of the Company.

Provision 30. Going concern statement

In the annual and half-yearly financial statements, 
the Board states that such statements have been 
compiled based on the historic cost principle as 
amended by the readjustment of specific asset and 
liability items into market values, the going concern 
principle and are in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) that have been 
issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) and their interpretations that have been 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Inter-
pretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB.   

Provision 31. Viability statement

The Company does not prepare a separate viabil-
ity statement. The annual report includes an assess-
ment of the going concern activity for a period of 12 
months from the date of the financial statements as 
well as an analysis of the risks to which the Group is 
exposed, with a list of the actions that limit them, 
as well as sensitivity analyses to various variables. 
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In combination, the above disclosures provide information on the viability of the 
Group and are in line with both the accounting framework followed (International 
Financial Reporting Standards) and the requirements of Greek Legislation regard-
ing the obligations and responsibilities of the members of the Board of Directors 
and those responsible for the preparation of the annual report.

1.5. Remuneration 
Principle P: Long-term focused remuneration

The Board Remuneration Policy was approved in its original form by the AGM’s 
resolution of the shareholders of Mytilineos dated June 24, 2019 and has been 
amended by virtue of the AGM’s resolution of the shareholders dated June 15, 
2021. The main amendment put into effect the Long-Term Incentive Plan so to 
further support the long-term focus of the remuneration practices of the Com-
pany. All of the amendments are marked in blue in the table that follows. The 
Policy shall be effective for four [4] years from the date it was originally approved, 
i.e. until June 2023. The Policy was prepared with the help of an external consult-
ant, Korn Ferry, and is in accordance with the EU Shareholder Rights Directive, as 
incorporated into Greek legislation by virtue of Law 4548/2018. 

The Policy applies to the remuneration of all Company’s members of the Board of 
Directors. The Policy sets out details of both (i) the current rights and obligations; 
and (ii) the terms under which future remuneration may be offered to current and 
/ or new Directors as long as the Policy is in Force.

The Policy considers European best practices for listed entities, whilst reflecting the 
current Executive Directors’ remuneration arrangements. In addition, the Policy 
takes into consideration the provisions of the Company’s articles of association, 
the Company’s corporate governance code and the Company’s by-laws. 

In short the board remuneration policy is as follows:

Executive Directors of the Board

Principles of Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy for the Executive Directors 
contributes to the Company’s business strategy and 
long-term interests and sustainability by: 

• Providing a fair and appropriate level of fixed re-
muneration that does not result in over reliance on 
variable pay and undue risk taking, thereby encour-
aging the Executive Director to focus on sustained 
long-term value creation. 

• Providing a balance of short and long-term incen-
tives to ensure there is focus on short term objectives 
that will over time build to create long-term value 
creation, as well as long-term goals. 

• Expecting Executive Directors to acquire and re-
tain shares in the Company thereby being aligned to 
the long-term performance and sustainability of the 
Company and its shareholders. 

• Including long-term incentives where the reward is 
delivered in shares which aligns Executive Directors to 
shareholder interests and value, as well as the perfor-
mance of the Company over the longer term. 

• Requiring performance measures in any long-term 
incentive to be measured over the longer-term.

Short-Term Incentive Plan

Form of compensation Cash and/or shares

Value determination (on-target 
performance)

CEO: up to 125% of fixed remuneration
Other Executive Directors: up to 50% of fixed remuneration

Targets

• Financial targets (at least 60% weight) 
• Non-financial targets (up to 40% weight)

NB: To activate the Short-Term Incentive Program, the Company must achieve at least 85% of the EBITDA 
target. In addition, the Short-Term Incentive Program pay-out is subject to the achievement of a predefined 
target in terms of environmental, health and safety, as well as corporate social responsibility criteria. In case 
those are not met, the pay-out is decreased according to the level of achievement.

Maximum performance Scenario Up to 200% of the on-target incentive payout
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Long-Term Incentive Plan

Form of compensation 
Shares or in cash equivalent, provided to the Executive Director to buy company shares at 30% of 
total value granted and to hold them for 2 years

Value determination (on-target 
performance) for granted shares

CEO: 100% of fixed remuneration
Other Executive Directors: 60% of fixed remuneration

Criteria for vesting
• TSR relative to FTSE/ATHEX Large Cap excluding banks
• Absolute target for EPS

Maximum performance Scenario 150% of the on-target incentive payout

Vesting Schedule 30% on year 4, 30% on year 5, 40% on year 6

Non-Executive Directors

Key Remuneration Principles

The Non-Executive Directors are paid a basic board fee which is fixed 
and covers for the time required to perform their duties. This fixed fee 
covers for the time to attend in Board meetings and includes travel-
ling and preparation time. Supplemental fees may be paid to the Non-
Executive Directors for additional responsibilities and activities, which 
exceed the scope of the duties assigned including but not limited to, 
attending site visits, and meetings with management. The Remunera-
tion Policy was amended to clarify that there are no fees payable to 
independent non-executive directors other than for their participation 
to the Board and/or its Committees. 

There is no performance-based variable pay or pension provided to the 
non-executive Chairman or Non-Executive Directors.

Reasonable business expenses incurred by the Non-Executive Directors 
in carrying out their duties may be reimbursed by the Company such as 
professional courses, purchasing reading material to ensure they are up 
to date on any relevant matters, taking into account any internal policy 
that is applicable.

The complete remuneration policy document is available on the Com-
pany’s website at  https://www.mytilineos.gr/media/vowkemcd/mytili-
neos-rem-policy-2021eng.pdf .

Principle Q: Transparent remuneration procedures

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Company (the 
“Committee”) has worked with all relevant units of the Company, as 
well as an independent remuneration consultant (Korn Ferry), to ar-
rive at the Remuneration Policy, which has been recommended to and 
approved by the Board of Directors by virtue of a resolution dated 9 
May 2019. Further the abovementioned amendments have been rec-
ommended by the Committee to and approved by the Board by virtue 
of a resolution dated 12 May 2021.  

The process for the approval of the Policy (and any amendments there-
to) is determined by the Company’s articles of association and Law 
4548/2018. 

The Committee submits the Policy for approval to the 
Board of Directors. No member of the Board of Direc-
tors shall be present when their own remuneration 
is discussed. Once agreed by the Board of Directors, 
the Policy is submitted for approval at the Company’s 
AGM of Shareholders.  

The Committee considers regularly whether the Poli-
cy continues to be aligned to the Company’s business 
strategy or whether amendments should be recom-
mended to the Board of Directors. Every four years 
(or earlier on a need for change) on the recommen-
dation of the Committee, the Board of Directors will 
seek the Shareholders’ approval of any new Policy.

Principle R:  Exercising discretion

The aim of the Remuneration Policy is to ensure the 
Company is remunerating its Directors on the basis 
of the Company’s short and long-term business plan, 
so as to continue creating value for customers, share-
holders, employees and the Greek economy. 

The level of fixed pay – salary and directors' emolu-
ments – for both Executive and Non-Executive Di-
rectors is established on the basis of paying fair and 
reasonable remuneration for the best and most ap-
propriate person for the role, taking into account the 
level of responsibility, as well as the knowledge and 
experience required to deliver upon expectations, 
while ensuring that the Company pays no more than 
is necessary, always supporting its longer-term inter-
ests and sustainability.

The Policy provides for variable compensation ar-
rangements for Executive Directors to further align 
the Executive Directors’ interests with those of the 
Company as the performance conditions used will 
be based on indicators of the long-term success and 
sustainability of the Company.
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The Policy does not include any variable compensation for Non-Executive Directors 
to ensure that there is no conflict of interest in the decision making of the Non-Ex-
ecutive Directors and their ability to challenge management’s risk-taking decisions.    

Provision 32. Remuneration and Nomination Committee composition  

As mentioned under Provision 17, the Company has a combined Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee which examines and processes issues pertaining to: 
(a) the remuneration of Board members (the “directors”) and of senior and other 
executives; and (b) the suitability of existing and candidate directors, within the 
scope of its remit under these Terms of Reference. The Committee revisited its 
Terms of Reference, which were approved and put into effect by the Resolution of 
the Board of Directors dated 26.07.2021, following relevant proposals submitted 
by the Committee. 

The remuneration responsibilities of the Remuneration and Nomination Commit-
tee include the following:

• to propose the Remuneration Policy to the Board, which shall then be submitted 
for approval at the General Meeting of the Company’ s Shareholders, as well as 
the framework for the type and amount of remuneration of the directors (particu-
larly that of the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer and the execu-
tive directors), and the type and amount of remuneration of senior management 
who are members of the Executive Committee; and to formulate proposals to the 
Board regarding the remuneration of the other Company executives, in particular 
of the head of the Internal Audit Division;

• to determine the policy for and scope of pension arrangements for executive 
Directors;

• to review the appropriateness and relevance of the Remuneration Policy for Di-
rectors;

• to propose the annual Remuneration Report to the Board.

The Committee Chair informs the Board regarding 
the Committee’s work on all matters falling within its 
remit and the manner in which it has fulfilled its du-
ties; submitting a report in this regard in accordance 
with the UK Corporate Governance Code, which the 
Company implements.  

The Committee Chair has served on a remuneration 
committee for 15 months prior to his appointment. 
The Chairman of the Board may be a Committee 
member only if they are an independent non-exec-
utive Director on appointment as Chairman of the 
Board. In any case, the Chairman of the Board cannot 
chair the Committee.  

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee was 
established, under its current composition, by deci-
sion of the Board of Directors of 07.06.2018 and is 
currently composed of three (3) independent non-
executive members of the Board of Directors, whose 
term of office is due to expire on 07/06/2022 .

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
meets regularly and informs the Board following each 
meeting. 

Information on the composition, meetings and activi-
ties of the Remuneration and Nomination Commit-
tee during the year 2021 are listed below.

Composition and meetings of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee in 2021

Composition of the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee

Status Tenure in office Meetings in 2021 Attendance rate of meetings

Ioannis Petridis Chair 07.06.2018-31.12.2019 4/4 100%

Emmanouil Kakaras Member 07.06.2018-07.06.2022 4/4 100%

Konstantina Mavraki Member 07.06.2018-07.06.2022 4/4 100%

The Committee’ s Secretary is the Company Secretary Mrs Leda Condoyanni, with Mr Panagiotis Psarreas as her Deputy Company Secretary.

Further information on the remit, responsibilities and the modus operandi of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee are available 
in the Committee’s Terms of Reference, which have been released in the Company’ s website www.mytilineos.gr at the following address: 
https://www.mytilineos.gr/who-we-are/governance/corporate-governance/committees#section4 .
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Provision 33. Role of the remuneration committee

The Committee has not delegated responsibility but submits the policy 
for executive director remuneration to the Board for approval.

Fixed pay for the Chair, who is also the CEO currently, and for the execu-
tives of the Company is set by the Board of Directors upon the recom-
mendation of the Committee, taking into account levels of pay at other 
companies of a similar size for roles of similar scope and responsibility.  
Additionally, the contract for the Chair/CEO has been approved by a 
resolution of the general meeting of shareholders. 

The remuneration policy for the Executive Directors, as for all employees, 
is based on the principle of paying fair and reasonable remuneration for 
the best and most appropriate person for the role while ensuring that 
the Company pays fairly and competitively and in the longer-term inter-
ests and sustainability of the Company. 

The Committee and Board of Directors receive periodic updates on the 
wider employee remuneration structure and practices within the Com-
pany, which are considered when establishing and revisiting the Policy. 
This is to ensure that remuneration practices and structure are as con-
sistent as possible across the Company, while acknowledging that the 
structure of remuneration for Executive Directors is necessarily different 
to that of less senior employees as a result of their role and ability to 
impact the performance of the business. 

In addition, the Committee and Board of Directors are provided with 
information on remuneration trends across the Company including av-
erage pay increases along with any relevant economic data, such as the 
rate of inflation to take into account when operating the Policy.

Provision 34. Non-executive director remuneration

The remuneration of the non-executive directors is determined by the 
Board on the recommendation of the Chairman and CEO in accord-
ance with the remuneration policy. The remuneration of non-executive 
directors is not comparable to the structure of remuneration for the 
employees and executive directors of the Company. The Non-Executive 
Directors are paid a basic board fee which is fixed and covers for the 
time required to perform their duties. Supplemental fees may be paid to 
the Non-Executive Directors for additional responsibilities and activities, 
which exceed the scope of the duties assigned including but not limited 
to, attending site visits, and meetings with management. The Remu-
neration Policy was amended to clarify that there are no fees payable to 
independent non-executive directors other than for their participation 
to the Board and/or its Committees.

Provision 35. Use of remuneration consultants

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee appointed Korn Ferry, 
an independent remuneration consultant, to work with the commit-
tee in drafting the policy. The consultant assisted the Committee in 
their engagement with the Management Team and worked with all 
the relevant management units of the company. To arrive at the Policy 
the consultant discussed with the Committee the requirements of Law 
4548/2018, which transposed the SRDII, and the UK Corporate Govern-
ance Code. The consultant also assisted the Committee for the amend-
ments of the Remuneration Policy of 2021. Korn Ferry is not affiliated 
with members of the Board of Directors and provides remuneration 
consulting services to the General Division of Human Resources. 

Provision 36. Durations of retention

In the Long-Term Incentive Program, the fees are set at 30% in year 4, 
30% in year 5 and 40% in year 6. With the approval of the Board of 
Directors, the payment can be made in shares or in the equivalent of 
value in cash with the obligation of the Executive member of the Board 

of Directors to buy shares of the Company, at a rate 
of 30% of the total value granted, as well as to hold 
them for 2 years.

Provision 37. Discretion and recovery

Temporary derogations from the Policy may be al-
lowed in exceptional circumstances, for example in 
circumstances of recruitment or retention, where it 
is considered by the Board of Directors necessary to 
serve the long-term interests and sustainability of 
the Company as a whole, or to assure its viability. 
Any derogation is required to be considered and ap-
proved by the Board of Directors. The elements of the 
Policy from which a derogation is possible are those 
which determine short and long-term incentives.

Payments under the short-term incentive scheme will 
be subject to recovery for a period of at least 3 years 
from payment in the event of certain specified events 
including inaccurate financial statements of previous 
years or otherwise erroneous financial data used to 
calculate such short-term incentive scheme payouts 
and misconduct.

Provision 38. Pension Contributions

Retirement allowance is offered to executives in or-
der to provide market competitive retirement ben-
efits for recruitment and retention purposes. The 
Company may operate - not currently in force - a 
defined-contribution pension plan in which the Ex-
ecutive Directors may participate. The maximum con-
tribution from the Company for Executive Directors is 
up to 25% of Fixed Pay.

Provision 39. Contract periods and bonuses on 
appointment and departure 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee en-
sures compensation commitments in directors' terms 
of appointment do not reward poor performance. 
In case of termination of contractual arrangements 
with Executive Directors at the initiative of the Com-
pany, notice periods and termination payments shall 
be as provided by the current legal requirements in 
the Board Remuneration Policy. 

Currently, according to law, notice periods are up to 
4 months based on the years of employment while 
the maximum amount for severance are up to 12 
monthly salaries based on the years of employment. 
Executive Directors of the Board, in their capacity as 
such, are not entitled to severance payments or other 
compensation by the Company, for loss of office or 
otherwise howsoever arising. 

There is however a contract for provision of services 
between the Company and the current Chairman 
and CEO, the terms of which, as approved by the 
ordinary general meeting of shareholders on 7th 
June 2018, provide, among others, for right to ter-
mination of the contract and compensation in case 
of change of control of the Company (including as a 
result of a Public Acquisition Offer).
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Last, payments under both the short-term and long-term incentive schemes will 
be subject to recovery for a period of at least 3 years from payment in the event of 
certain specified events including inaccurate financial statements of previous years 
or otherwise erroneous financial data used to calculate such short-term incentive 
scheme payouts and misconduct.

Provision 40. Design of remuneration policy

The remuneration policy for the Executive Directors, as for all employees, is based 
on the principle of paying fair and reasonable remuneration for the best and most 
appropriate person for the role while ensuring that the Company pays fairly and 
competitively and in the longer-term interests and sustainability of the Company. 
Shareholder voting guidelines on Executive Directors’ remuneration and best prac-
tice were taken into consideration as part of the process in formulating the Board 
Remuneration Policy. 

The Committee and Board of Directors receive periodic updates on the wider em-
ployee remuneration structure and practices within the Company, which are con-
sidered when establishing and revisiting the Policy. Also the General Manager of 
Human Resources is invited to attend all or part of any meeting of the Committee 
to provide input on employment trends.

Provision 41. Reporting on the remuneration committee

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee held four (4) meetings. All mem-
bers of the Committee attended all the meetings. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee, worked with an independent 
remuneration consultant (Korn Ferry), to prepare for the second Remuneration 
Report of the members of the Board of Directors in accordance with the cur-
rent legislation and the  SRD II, which was transposed into Greek law by Law 
4548/2018 [https://www.mytilineos.gr/media/uhre5plr/item_3-mytilineos_rem_re-
port_2020_en.pdf]. The drafting of the Remuneration Report of the Board of Di-
rectors 2020 took into account the consultation of the European Commission, 
of 1 March 2019, regarding the guidelines for the standard presentation of the 
Remuneration Report under Community Directive 2007/36/EC, as amended by EU 
Directive 2017/828 regarding the encouragement of long-term active participation 
of shareholders (SRD II). The external auditors prepared a report on the pre-agreed 
procedures [https://www.mytilineos.gr/media/kvglhkha/item-3-gt_remuneration_
report_%CE%BC%CF%85%CF%8 4eng.pdf]. 

The Report describes how the Remuneration Policy 2019 was implemented, taking 
into account the basic remuneration principles, remuneration design planning, as 
well as the actual performance achieved at Company and executive level, during 
the year 2020. The Report describes how the views of key institutional shareholders 
of the Company, where taken into account following the shareholder engagement 
that took place during the first CG Roadshow. Furthermore, the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee approved the project “Benchmarking Remuneration 
2021” concerning the remuneration of the executive and non-executive members 
of the Board of Directors for which the Committee worked with an independent 
remuneration consultant (Korn Ferry).

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee has ensured that the remuneration 
of the Executive Members of the Board of Directors is in line with and the opera-
tional strategy of MYTILINEOS and that they support it. This alignment is achieved 
as strategic business objectives are taken as the basis for setting the financial and 
strategic individual objectives of the Executive Board members.

The Report was submitted to the Board for approval and to the 2021 AGM 
for an advisory vote and received positive votes at a rate of 99.45% [https://
www.mytilineos.gr/media/3xeb5cpk/voting_results-31st_annual_general_meet-
ing_15-06-2021_eng.pdf]. 

During 2021, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee discussed and ap-
proved the LTIP and the STIP for the executive members of the Board and submit-
ted it to the Board for approval. 

Furthermore, the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee discussed and approved amendments to 
the Remuneration Policy 2019 and submitted them 
for approval to the Board. The amendments were 
finally approved by virtue of the AGM’s resolution 
of the shareholders dated June 15, 2021. The main 
amendment put into effect the Long-Term Incentive 
Plan so to further support the long-term focus of the 
remuneration practices of the Company. The Policy 
shall be effective for four [4] years from the date it 
was originally approved, i.e. until June 2023.

2. Composition and
functioning of the board
of directors

2.1. Role and responsibilities 
of the board 
2.1.1. Acting collectively, the Board of Directors is en-
trusted with the governance, i.e. management and 
representation, of the Company and has authority 
to decide on all matters relevant to the administra-
tion of the Company, management of the Company’s 
property and the pursuit of the object of the Com-
pany, except for those matters which under the law 
or under the Articles of Association fall within the 
exclusive authority of the General Meeting, with the 
aim of strengthening the Company’s  economic value 
and profitability, of  promoting its long-term sustain-
able success and of safeguarding the Company’s in-
terests. The Board is furthermore entrusted with the 
full and effective control of the Company business 
and acts in conformance with the provisions of law 
and the Articles of Association.

The Board of Directors holds a meeting whenever the 
law, the Articles of Association or the needs of the 
Company so dictate. It is the Company's practice that 
the Board of Directors meets regularly at least once 
per month, and several times on an extraordinary ba-
sis whenever important issues arise or there is a need 
for immediate decision-making. The regular meetings 
of the Board of Directors are usually attended by all 
Board members. Thus far, the Board of Directors has 
never postponed making a decision because of lack 
of quorum.

According to the Articles of Association and the 
Company’s Internal Regulation, the main responsibili-
ties of the Board of Directors include, indicatively, the 
following:

• Setting the strategic directions, including the sale 
or other disposal of the Company’s shares, the acqui-
sition of any enterprise or the proposal for the merg-
ing of the Company with another enterprise, which 
are submitted for final approval by the General Meet-
ing of the Company’s shareholders.


